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2007 has seen a steady erosion of share prices 
of biotechnology companies across Australia and 
New Zealand. Following the general uneasiness of 
stock markets world wide, companies operating in 
the high tech end of biotechnology, especially those 
with development programmes that will need time to 
develop products, have seen their share value decrease. 
Unfortunately, Genesis was no exception.

However, there have been outstanding deals within the 
biotech space. Large, globally active pharmaceutical 
companies continue to make lucrative contracts with start-
up biotechs, including the integration of these organisations 
into their own structures or the outright purchase or 
licensing of specific intellectual property. These deals 
have been valued in the 100s of millions of dollars and 
represent opportunities for those companies that have the 
cash to generate the data necessary to attract the interest 
of large pharma.

As previously reported, the current board decided to 
focus our programmes on the development of human 
pharmaceuticals and to divest all other projects. The sale 
of BioJoule during 2007 was the final step in this transition 
and was a good achievement.

Genesis is now totally focused on development of 
therapeutics using its integrated capability to undertake a 
full spectrum of science from early stage discovery right 
through to clinical development.

Significant developments of the two major programmes, 
RNAi oncology and Zyrogen antibody, have continued 
during 2007 and these are discussed in the Chief 
Executive’s report.

Most notable was the agreement of a research alliance 
with MorphoSys AG, a leading international developer of 
therapeutic human antibodies. This agreement recognises 
the quality of the development work undertaken at Genesis 
and the commercial potential for the Zyrogen programme.

Genesis also participates in a number of other 
international collaborations but they are subject to  
non-disclosure obligations.

As we move through 2008, the changing appetites for 
risk in the financial markets have had an effect on the 
biotechnology industry. Genesis has a significant cash 
balance but will need to raise further funds which it 
will seek to do by entering further revenue producing 
collaborations and by licensing its product programmes.

Genesis, with two mature programmes, is well placed 
to attract the interest of pharmaceutical and large 
biotech companies.

The next 12 months will determine the future of our 
company. Both current internal programmes have the 
potential to generate tremendous uplift of share value. 
We will continue with our strategy to concentrate on 
human therapeutics and hope that our investors will have 
the patience to support that.

We have the right scientists and support staff working 
for the company and I would like to thank them for 
their dedication.

J H VON ROY 

Chairman

28 February 2008

Report of the Board
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R NAi Th e RApe uTics  
foR cANce R

Cancer continues to be one of the 
leading causes of death world wide, 
claiming more than half a million 
lives every year in the USA alone. 
Traditional treatments for cancer – 
surgery, chemotherapy and radiation 
therapy – all have significant limitations, 
and there remains an urgent need for 
new and innovative treatments. RNAi is 
a leading technology with great promise 
in this area.

The 2007 year had many milestones 
for the RNAi therapeutic development 
industry but the most interesting were 
the acknowledgement of the potential 
and importance of RNAi by several big 
pharmaceutical companies. Early in the 
year Merck & Co., Inc. acquired Sirna 
Therapeutics for US$1.1 billion. Later in 
the year Roche agreed an alliance with 
Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc. worth 
up to US$1 billion. This illustrates the 
enormous value that can be created 
through successful commercialisation 
of RNA interference technology.

In the oncology programme at Genesis, 
we are utilising the new and powerful 
technology of RNA interference (RNAi) 
to develop new cancer therapeutics 
that kill cancer cells by inhibiting their 
nutrient uptake and metabolic activity, 
two important aspects of cellular 
physiology that differ between tumour 
and normal cells. We are identifying 
siRNAs that lead to cancer cell death, 
as well as those that act synergistically 
with chemotherapeutic drugs in a 
combinatorial approach.

Early in the project, we identified a 
large number of target genes involved 
in cellular transport and energy 
metabolism and these were rapidly 
screened in a laboratory setting 
to identify those with potential as 
therapeutic targets.

The success of siRNA-based 
therapeutics depends on delivery of 
the therapeutic siRNA to cancer cells. 
We are developing and testing a 
number of delivery systems that 
package, protect and deliver siRNA 
to tumours. Using nanoparticle and 
liposome technologies, we have 
demonstrated gene target knockdown 
following both intra-tumoural and 
intravenous administration and are 
now focusing on refining these 
techniques, while also continuing our 
efforts to broaden the scope of delivery 
vehicles through both in-house 
development and collaborations. 

Genesis also made good progress in 
2007 with testing of various designs 
and types of chemical modification 
of siRNA molecules for a number 
of priority targets. We were able to 
develop some highly potent molecules 
that could achieve tumour remission.

Further work to better understand the 
efficiency and scope of the delivery 
vehicles that are used to encapsulate 
the siRNA is continuing in conjunction 
with external partners.

com m e RciAl Deve lopm e NT

Although RNAi is a relatively new 
technology, it is making very quick 
progress and has already moved into 
clinical trials with human subjects. RNAi 
clinical trials that have been announced 
or are underway include: 

Chief Executive’s Report
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COmPANy DiSEASE DEvELOPmENT STAgE

Acuity Wet age related macular degeneration Phase III commenced in 2007; currently enrolling.

Alnylam Respiratory syncytial virus Phase II in artificially infected patients completed 2007.  
Phase II in naturally infected patients planned for 2008.

Benitec AIDS lymphoma Phase I underway.

Calando Liver cancer Currently being merged with Insert Therapeutics.  
No clinical trial information available.

intradigm Cancer Phase I planned for 2008.

Nastech Influenza In the process of forming an RNAi subsidiary.  
No clinical trial information available.

Quark Wet age related macular degeneration Phase I/IIa (licensed to Pfizer).

Acute renal failure IND filed. Phase I currently enrolling.

Silence Therapeutics Cancer Phase I planned for 2008.

merck (formerly 
Sirna Therapeutics)

Age related macular degeneration Phase I completed. 

Hepatitis C No details available.

Tacere Hepatitis C Collaborating with Pfizer. No clinical trial information available.

Genesis expects that it could complete 
preparation for a clinical trial by late 
2008 if good progress continues to be 
made, particularly with the achievement 
of clinically relevant delivery.

ZyRog e N

Zyrogen is our name for FGFR5, 
a fibroblast growth factor receptor 
family member identified by Genesis 
from our proprietary EST databases. 
The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 
receptors play key roles in skeletal 
development and this is most clearly 
demonstrated in patients with 
mutations in these receptors. Specific 
mutations in FGFR1, 2 and 3 have 
been associated with the Crouzon, 
Apert, Pfeiffer, Jackson-Weiss and 
Beare-Stevenson syndromes, human 
diseases characterised by abnormal 
bone development. Studies performed 
at Genesis and other laboratories 
show that the fifth member of the FGF 
receptor family, Zyrogen, appears 

to play an important role in bone 
development and diseases where 
bone loss is a feature.

FGFR5 is preferentially expressed in 
developing musculoskeletal tissues 
and is expressed by osteoblasts which 
play a critical role in the development of 
both the bone and the immune systems. 
Osteoblasts lay down new bone and 
regulate the action of osteoclasts 
which resorb old bone. In addition, 
osteoblasts are a critical component 
of the bone marrow and influence the 
development of B cells.

Our studies indicate that FGFR5 
is a potential therapeutic target 
in osteoporosis and autoimmune 
disorders, as well as cancers which 
are characterised by excess bone 
resorption.

Genesis has worked with MorphoSys, 
an international developer of therapeutic 
human antibodies to select a panel of 
fully human FGFR5 antibodies. These 
will be tested for their ability to inhibit 

disease progression in several models 
of diseases including rheumatoid 
arthritis and osteoporosis.

This work on FGFR5 antibodies has 
led to a formal research collaboration 
between Genesis and MorphoSys, 
an agreement recognising both the 
commercial potential and scientific 
excellence of Genesis and its 
Zyrogen programme together with the 
therapeutic potential of the MorphoSys 
fully human antibodies.

During 2007, Genesis filed patent 
applications that will put us in a 
strong position for protecting the new 
antibodies. New experimental data 
demonstrating the efficacy of these 
antibodies will be added to this IP to 
strengthen and ring-fence our claims.

We plan to complete the pre-clinical 
development of a therapeutic antibody, 
including toxicology studies and GMP 
manufacture and to commence a 
Phase I clinical trial. This trial could 
commence in 2009.
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We have previously reported our 
intention to out-license the Zyrogen 
project due to the significant technical 
and financial inputs required for 
the development of a commercial 
therapeutic antibody. Our general 
commercialisation strategy is to develop 
projects through to Phase II clinical 
trials and then out-license them to large 
biotech or pharmaceutical companies 

Chief Executive’s Report (CONTI N U E D)

that have the necessary manufacturing 
and marketing infrastructure and 
experience to market a drug in all key 
global markets. We will, however, also 
consider earlier out-licensing provided 
reasonable financial returns are still 
achieved for Genesis shareholders, or if 
the project requires technical expertise 
that is outside our competencies. Out-
licensing provides a mechanism for 

risk sharing, accessing technical and 
marketing expertise and achievement 
of early financial returns. 

We have continued to update a number 
of companies that have expressed 
strong interest in the project and its 
commercial development and believe 
that there is a high likelihood of 
achieving a license or collaboration 
agreement during 2008-9.

sysTe m ic lu pus 
e RyTh e mATos us 

SLE is an illness in which the 
body’s immune system attacks 
itself - a so-called autoimmune 
disease. The disease often causes 
joint and muscle pain as well as 
a rash, and it more commonly 
affects women. ‘Systemic’ is 
used to describe the disease 
because the disease can affect 
many parts of the body. Lupus 
(Latin for wolf) is used because 
the rash on a patient’s face often 
resembles the markings of a wolf. 
SLE cannot be cured but can be 
controlled to a certain degree with 
non-steroidal anti-inflammatory 
and immunosuppressive drugs. 
Unfortunately, these treatments 
are often not very effective and 
long term therapy for this chronic 
illness can lead to significant side 
effects, so it is widely accepted 
that new drugs are required to 
treat these patients.

R h e u mAToi D ARTh R iTi s

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a 
chronic systemic inflammatory 
disease of unknown cause in which 
the body’s immune system attacks 
body tissues (an autoimmune 
disease). RA primarily affects the 
peripheral joints (although it may 
also involve organs such as the 
skin, heart, lungs, and eyes) causing 
joint destruction and thus often 
leads to considerable morbidity 
and mortality. 

The worldwide incidence of RA 
is approximately 3 cases per 
10,000, and the prevalence rate 
is approximately 1%. Females are 
2-3 times more likely to develop RA 
than males.

Existing treatments include 
DMARDS, with methotrexate being 
the agent of choice, and agents 
directed against TNF, such as 
Enbrel (etanercept). Corticosteroids 
may be used for short periods to 
alleviate inflammation, and NSAIDs 
are used for pain relief. The disease 
remains active in patients who do 
not respond to existing treatments, 
and hence new therapeutic agents 
are sought.

Agents under development include 
improved versions of TNF-blockers 
and biologics which target IL-6. 
A therapeutic antibody targeting 
Zyrogen would be a novel 
approach.

PREVALENCE ESTIMATES POTENTIAL PATIENTS IN KEY MARKETS

Osteoporosis Total population: 10%

Aged 50+: 15-55%

 
80,000,000

SLE Men: 0.004%-0.024%

Women: 0.04%-0.13%

 
400,000

A number of companies are developing 
new therapeutics for SLE or trialling 
existing therapeutics that have been 
approved for other diseases. Many of 
these treatments have a strong impact 
on the immune system and there is 
likely to be a need for more targeted 
therapies. We are unaware of any other 
therapeutics that are targeting the 
Zyrogen molecule.

osTeopoRos i s 

Osteoporosis is a disease that affects a 
large and increasing number of people. 
There are existing treatments but some 
significant side effects have been noted 
for some of these treatments, such 
as necrosis of the jaw. A number of 
other companies are developing new 
therapeutics for osteoporosis because 
of the expected market demand for 
treatments that are effective and that 
do not have any significant adverse 
side effects. A therapeutic antibody 
targeting Zyrogen is expected to have 
potential to achieve significant market 
share because of the need for a variety 
of therapeutic treatments.
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B ioJou le li m iTe D

Early in 2007 new capital of $500,000 
was injected into BioJoule from 
two investors, diluting the Genesis 
interest from 70% to 65%. However 
BioJoule had reached the stage 
where it was ready for commercial 
development requiring significant funds 
and it was apparent that such funds 
were not available from the limited 
resources of existing shareholders. 
In addition the Government and its 
research funding agencies decided 
to not provide any significant support 
despite our numerous submissions 
and the clear benefit to New Zealand 
if the technology is successfully 
commercialised. 

Accordingly several international groups 
were approached to make a major 
investment in BioJoule. In October 
agreement was reached with Pure 
Power Global Limited to acquire all of 
BioJoule. The cash return to Genesis 
for its 65% stake is $3.9 million (50% 
paid in December 2007 and the 
balance in August 2008) which will 
help fund the ongoing development 
of the RNAi oncology and Zyrogen 
antibody programmes. In addition 
the consideration included shares in 
Pure Power Global Limited, currently 
estimated to be worth $744,000 and 
with potential to grow as the business 
develops. This investment is likely to be 
sold at an appropriate time.

SHAR E MAR KET PE R FOR MANCE – G E N: NZSX
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s hAR e mAR keT 
pe R foR mANce

The market capitalisation of Genesis 
is currently $3.9 million and has 
continued to be substantially below 
the net assets which were $8.7 million 
at 31 December 2007, and fails to 
recognise the value of the intellectual 
property held by Genesis which is being 
used to develop commercial value in our 
major projects.

This situation is common to many 
biotech companies but can lead to 
substantial re-rating as the company 
achieves commercial success. Recently 
a Japanese company licensed the world 
wide rights (other than Asia) to its 
antibody therapeutic which is in Phase I 
studies to a major USA based biotech 
for US$100 million upfront and further 
potential payments of several hundred 
million dollars, together with royalties. 
This indicated the potential for Genesis 
as it moves to get a Zyrogen antibody 
into clinical development.
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g e N e s i s R e s eARch AN D Deve lopm e NT coR poRATioN li m iTe D: pATe NT poRTfolio

Chief Executive’s Report (CONTI N U E D)

i NTe llecTuAl pRope RTy

Genesis has made further progress 
in developing its patent estate for the 
ongoing projects. The table below 
discloses the main patents that 
Genesis has filed and is continuing to 
prosecute. These patent claims are 
drafted and determined after rigorous 
assessment by our management and 

Seattle-based patent attorneys, of the 
commercial needs and risks of our 
development plans. 

The core technology patents filed by 
the scientists who pioneered RNAi 
are still facing challenges and a 
settled intellectual property ownership 
picture is not yet available. Genesis 
acknowledges that, pending the 
outcome of the unresolved IP situation, 

it might need to license certain patents 
in order to obtain freedom to operate, 
and has undertaken discussions with 
various groups regarding licensing 
such patents. We believe that the 
patent status will settle in the next 
few years in the same manner as 
antibody technology, which is now 
freely available through licensing from 
certain companies.

PRODUCT gROUP SUBJECT STATUS

RNAi Multiple targets in metabolic, 
energy and transporter pathways

Pending applications: United States; PCT patent application. 

Zyrogen FGFR5 Issued Patents: United States; New Zealand; Australia; Singapore.

Pending applications: United States; Australia; Europe; Canada; Japan and 
New Zealand. 

Tuberculosis vaccine Multi-epitope vaccine (MED-1) Issued Patents: United States; New Zealand; Australia; Singapore; Europe.

Pending applications: Canada; China; Hong Kong. 

Skin molecules Epigen (member of Epidermal 
Growth Factor family)

Issued Patents: United States; Australia; New Zealand; Singapore; China.

Pending applications: Hong Kong; Japan; Canada. 

Apoptosis/yB-1 Compositions and methods for 
modulating apoptosis

Issued patents: United States; Australia; New Zealand.

Pending applications: United States.

Plant cold tolerance genes Ice re-crystallisation proteins Issued patent: United States. 

Pending applications: United States; Australia; New Zealand;  
Europe and Canada. 

Flowering control in plants Phloem mobile protein Issued patent: United States.

Pending applications: United States. 

Phloem mobile molecules RNA binding protein 1 Issued Patent: United States.
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plAN s foR 2008

We hope to complete outlines for 
our first clinical trials of an RNAi 
therapeutic during 2008. This planning 
will encompass selection of the drug 
candidate from the formulations 
that we are currently assessing, 
commencement of toxicology studies 
and drafting of clinical trial protocols, 
leading to approval from regulatory 
authorities. As we progress towards 
clinical development, we will pursue 
opportunities for Genesis to obtain 
funding support for the programme by 
collaborating with other groups or by 
licensing a portion of the product rights.

We are also continuing to analyse 
opportunities to proceed in other 
disease settings where we can usefully 
apply our knowledge and skills in the 
use of RNAi in the fields of immunology 
and oncology and in development of 
antibody therapeutics. So far none of 
the projects we have reviewed have 
met the standards we require before 
we would invest Genesis funds.

fi NANciAl R e s u lTs

Revenue

Genesis aims to earn significant 
revenue from licensing its technology 
and product development to other 
parties and from royalties when 
products are commercialised and 
sold to consumers. Such licensing 
revenues are typically earned when 
a license is initially agreed, and upon 
achievement of subsequent milestone 
developments. These events may 
include completion of specified tasks, 
research outcomes, regulatory filings or 
approvals and achievement of certain 
levels of product sales. Some licensing 
revenues are intended to support future 
research costs including clinical trials, 
and may be recognised as accounting 
revenue in the years in which such 
costs are incurred. 

Annual revenues for biotech companies 
fluctuate significantly because 
licensing transactions and milestone 
achievements occur at irregular 
intervals.

Genesis also seeks grants to support 
its research projects. Such grants 
are usually supplied by government 
agencies.

Total revenue from continuing 
operations for 2007 declined from 
$1.1 million to $0.8 million due to the 
completion of the FRST grant for the 
siRNA programme. Interest revenue for 
the year was stable at $0.5 million.

In addition, there was revenue of 
$5.1 million from the discontinued 
operations of AgriGenesis and its 
investment in BioJoule, mostly resulting 
from the sale of the 65% stake in 
BioJoule to Pure Power Global Limited.

Expenditure

Genesis undertakes the majority of 
its research at its own laboratories in 
Auckland where 23 science staff and 
3 administration and management staff 
are employed. Employment costs, the 
largest single cost, were unchanged 
at $3.2 million. Legal and patent 
costs decreased from $0.5 million 
to $0.4 million.

Although significant expenditure was 
incurred with external contractors for 
production of specialist materials, total 
expenditure declined from $7.6 million 
to $6.6 million.

The net loss of $0.8 million was 
significantly below budget as a 
result of the sale of the investment 
in BioJoule. The company expects 
to report a loss during 2008 which 
represents the net investment in 
research and development and 
is customary for an early stage 
biotechnology company. No taxation 
expense was incurred due to the 
accumulated tax losses.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Depreciation on equipment 
exceeded modest expenditure on 
new equipment during the year, 
although the fully depreciated 
equipment is still fully functional.

cAs h fu N Ds

The cash balance of $5.8 million 
at the end of the financial year 
is expected to be augmented by 
licensing transactions during 2008 
and by receipt of the final payment of 
$1.9 million from Pure Power Global 
Limited for the sale of the investment 
in BioJoule Limited. This could also be 
supplemented by new capital if market 
conditions improve.

international Financial Reporting 
Standards (iFRS)

There has been significant work 
to implement the new accounting 
standards known as NZ IFRS.  
Full details are included in the notes 
to the financial statements.

people

I would like to pay tribute to the 
intellectual power, innovation, 
dedication, passion and commercial 
focus that our employees have applied 
to our company. In addition I would 
like to note the achievements of the 
staff who transferred to AgriGenesis 
when it was formed and who then 
moved to BioJoule. We expect that 
their capability will build a valuable 
enterprise. The directors have been 
effective and supportive of my 
management team. The contacts, 
experience, rigour, discipline and 
challenge that they provide have 
been an essential part of our 
continued progress.

foRwAR D ouTlook

The current cash balance and scientific 
achievements provide a strong 
foundation upon which Genesis can 
move its therapeutic programmes 
towards clinical development. In 
addition, licensing and collaboration 
opportunities for RNAi therapeutics and 
Zyrogen will be pursued as soon as key 
development milestones are achieved. 
Further funding will be required and we 
will pursue both capital and operating 
revenues to support our forward plans.

S G HALL 

Chief Executive

28 February 2008.
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BRUCE BAgULEy  Bsc m sc (hons) phD fRs NZ 

mARC FELDmANN  phD fmedsci ,  fRs 

Professor Baguley is currently Professor and Co-Director of the Auckland Cancer Society 
Research Centre at the University of Auckland where he has a particular interest in the 
development of tumour models, antivascular drugs and cytotoxic drugs. He is the author of over 
360 scientific publications and has co-edited the book “Anticancer Drug Development”, which 
provided the first comprehensive overview of this field. He was elected a Fellow of the Royal 
Society of New Zealand in 1991. In 2002 he was made an officer of the New Zealand Order of 
Merit (ONZM) for services to cancer research and in 2006 was awarded the Sir Charles Hercus 
Medal in molecular and cellular sciences and technologies.

Professor Feldmann is Head of the Kennedy Institute of Rheumatology Division of Imperial 
College London and is internationally renowned for his pioneering work on the molecular 
mechanisms of autoimmune diseases which has led to new treatments for rheumatoid arthritis 
and other autoimmune diseases based on the blocking of TNF. He has close interactions with 
a number of leading pharmaceutical and biotech companies.

Together with his colleague, Sir Ravinder Maini, he has been the recipient of a number of 
prestigious awards including the Albert Lasker Clinical Medical Research Award 2003 and 
the Crafoord Prize of the Royal Swedish Academy 2000.  He has been elected to Fellow of 
Australian Academy of Science and of the Royal Society (London), the recipient of the European 
Patent Office and European Union’s Inventor of the Year, Lifetime Achievement Award in 2007 
and of the Curtin Medal from Australian National University in 2008.

mARk mckEAgE  m BchB m medsc phD

Dr McKeage is Associate Professor in Clinical Pharmacology at the University of Auckland.  
He has published widely on the clinical pharmacology and development of anticancer drugs, 
and has played an integral role in the successful development of two new anticancer drugs. 

At Auckland City Hospital, Dr McKeage has an ongoing clinical role as a medical oncology 
specialist. He is an editorial board member of several international journals, a longstanding 
member of the SCOTT committee and Cancer Society National Scientific Advisory Committee, 
and is the current President of the Zealand Society for Oncology.

SEBASTiAN mARCUCCiO  phD

Dr Marcuccio is the founder of Advanced Molecular Technologies Pty Ltd, based in Melbourne, 
Australia. He is an expert in organic synthesis including cross coupling technologies of 
organoboron, organosilicon and nucleoside and nucleotide products, and has extensive 
experience in pharmaceutical drug discovery and developing, patenting and commercialising 
complex organic chemistry.

Consultants to  
Genesis Research Programmes
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Genesis Research and Development Corporation Limited is a 
New Zealand company with shares listed on the New Zealand 
and Australian stock exchanges. The Board of Genesis is 
committed to the highest standards of behaviour and 
accountability and has adopted formal policies to ensure 
that these are achieved, consistent with best practice and 
stock exchange rules and recommendations regarding 
corporate governance.

Role of Th e BoAR D

The Directors of Genesis are elected by shareholders and are 
responsible for the direction and supervision of the company’s 
business. The Board has determined that its principal 
responsibilities are:

•	 	To	create	shareholder	value	through	the	approval	of	
appropriate corporate strategies with particular regard to 
return expectations, allocation of resources, financial policy 
and the review of performance against strategic objectives;

•	 	To	appoint	the	Chief	Executive	and	monitor	the	appointment	
of senior executives, review their performance, remuneration 
and succession plans;

•	 	To	ensure	that	material	information	is	disclosed	to	
the market as soon as possible in a fair, accurate and 
balanced manner;

•	 	To	approve	and	foster	a	corporate	culture	which	requires	
management and every employee to operate to the highest 
level of ethical and professional behaviour;

•	 	To	approve	major	transactions	relating	to	acquisitions	
and divestments and capital expenditure exceeding 
delegated authorities;

•	 	To	review	operating	performance,	research	achievements	
and the progress of regulatory procedures, against budgets 

and other performance goals and to monitor corrective 
action by management;

•	 	To	ensure	that	appropriate	external	advice	is	available	
to management and the Board;

•	 	To	recruit	Directors	and	to	regularly	review	and	assess	
Board and subcommittee performance;

•	 	To	establish	and	review	processes	to	assist	the	effective	
operation of the Board;

•	 	To	appoint	auditors,	communicate	with	shareholders	
and monitor regulatory compliance; and

•	 	To	ensure	governance	issues	are	reviewed	periodically	
and managed appropriately.

De legATioN of AuThoR iTy

The formulation and implementation of policies and 
reporting procedures, other than those set out above, has 
been delegated to management. The Board monitors that 
delegation as part of the formal business of Board meetings.

BoAR D m e m B e Rs h i p

The Board currently comprises five non-executive Directors. 
The Board seeks to maintain a balance of Directors with 
complementary business expertise and biotechnology 
experience who will, at all times, act with an independent 
mind, in accordance with the highest ethical standards and 
contribute in a positive and constructive manner to Board 
discussion and debate. The Board will ensure that a majority 
of the Directors are non-executive and have no professional 
relationship with the company. Nomination and appointment 
of new Directors is undertaken by the full Board.

Corporate Governance

 BOARD mEmBERShiP NUmBER OF mEETiNgS hELD DURiNg 2007 whiLE A mEmBER NUmBER ATTENDED

 A J H Gearing 8 8

 S Gillis 8 4

 J N McLean 8 7

 J H von Roy 8 8

 S J Washer 8 8
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Di R ecToRs’ s hAR e TRADi Ng

The company will promptly notify the NZSX and ASX if any 
Director or Officer acquires or disposes of Genesis securities.

The Directors have implemented policies that restrict all 
directors and employees from buying or selling Genesis 
shares for a period prior to announcement of half and full 
year results, consistent with the “Approved Procedure” 
requirements of the Securities Amendment Act.

BoAR D com m iTTe e s

The Board has formally constituted two permanent Board 
Committees, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee.

The Audit Committee is regulated by a charter that addresses 
membership, function, specific responsibilities, and reporting 
procedures, consistent with the requirements of NZX Listing 
Rule 3.6.3. It is chaired by Mr J N McLean who has a financial 
background. Current members of the Audit Committee are 
Mr J H von Roy and Dr S J Washer. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for:

•	 	Reviewing	draft	annual	and	half	yearly	financial	statements	
prior to submission to the Board for approval;

•	 	Agreeing	with	the	external	auditors	on	the	nature,	scope	
and cost of the audit;

•	 Reviewing	the	performance	of	the	external	auditors;

•	 Reviewing	the	effectiveness	of	internal	control	systems.

Corporate Governance (CONTI N U E D)

 DiRECTOR NUmBER OF mEETiNgS hELD DURiNg 2007 whiLE A mEmBER NUmBER ATTENDED

 J N McLean 2 2

 J H von Roy 2 2

 S J Washer 2 2

Di R ecToR Te R m of office

  DiRECTOR APPOiNTED LAST RE-ELECTED NO OF yEARS iN OFFiCE

 A J H Gearing  26 January 2006 25 May 2006 2

 S Gillis 2 December 1993 25 May 2007 14

 J N McLean 19 August 1994 25 May 2006 14

 J H von Roy 17 June 2005 N/A 3

 S J Washer 17 June 2005 25 May 2007 3
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The Remuneration Committee, chaired by Mr J H von Roy, 
is responsible for:

•	 	Establishing	and	reviewing	remuneration	policy	for	the	
Board and staff;

•	 Reviewing	succession	planning;

•	 Administration	of	the	Employee	Share	Option	Plan;

•	 	Review	and	recommendation	of	governance	issues	
including Board and Committee membership.

In setting remuneration policy the Committee takes into 
consideration employee performance and comparable market 
rates. These procedures are designed to attract, motivate and 
retain quality staff. The Board has adopted a comprehensive 
policy addressing committee membership, function, 
responsibilities and reporting procedures. 

Currently all directors are members of the Remuneration 
Committee and the Committee business is conducted within 
the Board meetings. 

gove R NANce pR i Nci ple s

The corporate governance principles adopted or followed 
by Genesis are generally consistent with the NZX Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code, with the following 
exceptions:

•	 	The	company	does	not	have	a	separate	nomination	
committee due to the size of the company. This function is 
undertaken by the Remuneration Committee;

•	 	The	company	does	not	have	a	performance	based	share	
compensation plan. However Directors are encouraged 
to invest a portion of their cash Directors’ remuneration in 
purchasing Genesis shares.

The corporate governance principles adopted or followed by 
Genesis are generally consistent with the recommendations 
set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council, with the 
exceptions noted above and the following further exceptions:

•	 	Committee	charters,	new	director	selection	procedures	and	
corporate governance policies and procedures have not 
been made publicly available.

The Board considers that the independence of the directors 
of the company (as referred to in NZSX Listing Rules and ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations) at 
31 December 2007 and at the date of this report is as shown 
in the Table below:

 DiRECTOR STATUS

 A J H Gearing Independent

 S Gillis Independent

 J N McLean Independent

 J H von Roy Independent

 S J Washer Independent
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was an executive of Genesis from 1994 until 2003. He joined the company shortly after the 
completion of the initial company financing and was responsible for developing business 
strategies and partnerships. Prior to joining Genesis, Mr McLean was a partner with Ernst & 
Young (1983-1994) consulting in the areas of performance improvement, strategy and financial 
and business planning. Mr McLean received his BSc (Hons) from the University of Otago. He is 
Chairman of NZBio, Chairman of The Horticultural & Food Research Institute of New Zealand, 
deputy chair of the Foundation for Research Science and Technology board, a director of R J Hill 
Laboratories Limited and a member of the Government Biotechnology Industry Taskforce. 

Jim mcLEAN  Bsc (hoN s) AcA 

ANDy gEARiNg  phD 

is based in Melbourne, Australia, where he is the Chief Executive of Biocommsquare 
Pty Ltd, an international life sciences business development company. Dr Gearing has a 
successful track record in research management and business development in the European 
biotechnology sector. He moved to Australia early in 2001 to establish Biocomm Services, 
which has provided services to many prestigious academic institutions as well as private 
and listed biotechnology company clients in Australia, New Zealand, Japan, North America 
and Europe. Under Dr Gearing’s management, Biocomm Services successfully completed 
11 international licensing transactions for its clients and established three new biotechnology 
companies. Dr Gearing is also a director of CNSBio Pty Limited.

joined ARCH Venture Partners in 2005 where he now serves as a Managing Director focused 
on the evaluation of new life science technologies and the development and growth of ARCH’s 
biotechnology portfolio companies. Dr Gillis was a founder of Immunex Corporation, where 
he held multiple positions from 1981 to 1994, including acting Chief Executive Officer and 
Chairman. Dr Gillis co-founded Corixa Corporation in 1994 and served as Chief Executive 
Officer and as a director since that time and chaired the Corixa Corporation board since 
March 1999. Corixa Corporation was acquired by GlaxoSmithKline in July, 2005. Dr. Gillis is 
also a director of Migenix, Inc, a Vancouver, British Columbia based biotechnology company. 
He serves as Chairman, or as a member of the Board of Directors of multiple privately-held 
biotechnology companies located in Seattle, Washington, San Francisco, California and 
Boston, Massachusetts.

STEvE giLLiS   phD 

Directors
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JOAChim (Aki) vON ROy 

is a bio-entrepreneur who has focused his activities on New Zealand and Australian 
opportunities. Aki is known in the New Zealand biotechnology community for his role in 
leading a $12 million Series A fund raising for Proacta and for helping other biotechnology 
start ups, such as CoDa Therapeutics, Corra Life Science, Biomatters and PhotoNZ to 
develop their business concepts. 

He is a director of Biomatters Ltd, Corra Life Sciences, Wool Equities Limited, Orico 
Limited, Paraco Limited, Roberts & von Roy Associates Limited, and chairman of White 
Biotechnology Pty Limited, Phytomedics Inc and Phylogica, a listed Australian biotech.  
Aki is a partner of Inventages Venture Capital Investments, a venture capital company 
based in Switzerland and the Bahamas which manages the recently launched $150 million 
food, agbiotech and health fund BioPacificVentures in a collaboration with New Zealand 
based venture capitalist Direct Capital Private Equity Ltd and AgResearch Ltd. He is also 
a member of BioPacificVentures Investment Committee and an advisor to the Foundation 
for Research, Science and Technology. 

He is a German national and is the former European president of pharmaceutical giant 
Bristol-Myers Squibb. Aki was the New Zealand managing director for German drug 
company Schering AG in 1970/71 and after that went to Sweden, the US and eventually 
back to Germany to co-chair Schering AG’s home market. In 1984, he joined Squibb (von 
Heyden) to bring the two companies together and took over responsibility for Germany, 
Austria, Switzerland and Eastern Europe. Shortly after the Bristol-Myers merger with Squibb 
(1989) he became president for Europe, responsible for US$ 2.2 billion in sales, more 
than 7,500 employees and some 40 subsidiaries. In 1997, he retired from BMS to establish 
Roberts & von Roy Associates, a private investment firm specialising in health and related 
matters. He is now actively involved in creating a sustainable NZ/Australian biotech industry.

has over 14 years of senior executive and Board experience in commercial technology 
companies in the medical, food, agricultural and industrial sectors. He has raised over 
$50m in private shareholder and government funds into his companies and was a founder 
of BioPacific Ventures, a $120m fund. He is currently a Venture Partner with the Swiss 
Inventages Fund, a €1.5 billion life science fund.

Stewart was most recently the founding CEO of Phylogica Ltd. Before this he was CEO 
of Celentis and managed the commercialisation of intellectual property from AgResearch 
in New Zealand with 650 scientists and $130m revenues. 

Stewart is also Chairman of Hatchtech Pty Ltd and a Director of Healthlinx Ltd in 
Melbourne. Stewart sits on the Senate at Murdoch University and is on the Federal 
Government Advisory Panel for Industrial Biotechnology.

STEwART wAShER  phD 
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ch i e f execuTive office R  STEPhEN hALL   mcom(hons) cA, cTp

Stephen joined Genesis in September 2000 and was appointed Chief Executive in 2004. He has 
been heavily involved in all aspects of the company’s commercial activity including negotiations, 
collaborations, business development, intellectual property, corporate structure, capital markets 
and governance. Stephen previously held a number of senior management roles in New Zealand 
and Australian companies. He has been a Trustee of Auckland Chamber Orchestra Trust since its 
inception in 1999.

ch i e f sci e NTi f ic office R  gREg mURiSON  phD

Greg graduated from the University of Otago with a PhD in Immunology in 1989. He spent three 
years as a post-doctoral scientist with Professor Marc Feldmann and Dr Marco Londei at the 
Sunley Research Centre in London studying the role of T cell subsets and cytokines in health 
and autoimmunity. In 1993 he returned to New Zealand to work with Professor Jim Watson as a 
Research Fellow at the University of Auckland before becoming a founding staff member of 
Genesis in 1994. Greg has led a variety of science projects since the company’s inception 
and became Head of Research and Development in 2003 and Chief Scientific Officer in 2004.

h eAD of R NAi pRoDucT Deve lopm e NT  gLEN REiD  phD

After graduating from the University of Canterbury with an MSc (Hons) in Cellular and Molecular 
Biology, Glen obtained his PhD in Physiology from the Georg-August-Univesität in Göttingen, 
Germany. He then spent 3 years as a postdoctoral scientist with Professor Piet Borst at the 
Netherlands Cancer Institute in Amsterdam, studying multi-drug resistance in cancer cells. Glen 
has been working at Genesis since 2004 on a number of RNAi projects, most recently leading 
the RNAi oncology programme to identify and validate RNAi target genes for development of a 
siRNA cancer therapeutic.

h eAD of cli N icAl & R eg u lAToRy AffAi Rs  DiANA gASh   phD

Originally an organic chemist trained at the University of Auckland, Dr Diana Gash held post-
doctoral positions in the U.S. and Canada (Montreal), before moving into the pharmaceutical 
industry. She was a founding member of Phoenix International Life Sciences in Montreal, Canada. 
Before taking up her Genesis position in 2002, Diana was the Head of the Medical Department 
at AstraZeneca (New Zealand).

i NTe llecTuAl pRope RTy mANAg e R  ELiZABETh viSSER   D.sc(agric)

After receiving a DSc(agric)(Microbiology) from the University of Pretoria (South Africa), 
Elizabeth worked as a postdoctoral scientist at Washington State University (Department of 
Veterinary Microbiology and Pathology). At Genesis, Elizabeth was involved with and led a project 
team (1994 to 1998) isolating novel antigens from the non-pathogenic Mycobacterium vaccae, 
with the aim of developing a vaccine against tuberculosis. Interest in intellectual property led to 
her current position as Intellectual Property Manager, which she held since 1999.

Management
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fi NANciAl coNTRolle R  EwE POh Lim  B.econs (hons) ,  cA

Ewe Poh Lim joined Genesis as Financial Controller in October 2007. She is responsible for all 
aspects of the finance and accounting functions for Genesis, including financial reporting and 
taxation. Ewe Poh has more than 15 years of extensive career in finance in New Zealand. Her 
previous appointments includes five years as Finance Manager of Lodestar, Carter Holt Harvey 
and five years as Company/Line Accountant of Tasman Asia Shipping/Tasman Orient Line, a 
subsidiary of the then Fletcher Challenge. Before joining Genesis, Ewe Poh served one year 
as Financial Controller in Sofrana Shipping NZ. Ewe Poh is a member of the NZ Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.

fou N De R sci e NTi sT  Jim wATSON  phD

was a co-founder of Genesis in 1994. He has served as the Director of Research (1994-1998) 
and Chief Executive Officer (1998-2004). Prior to Genesis, Dr Watson was Head of the 
Department of Molecular Medicine (1983-1994) at the University of Auckland. He has held 
Professorships at the University of Auckland (1981-1993) and the University of California, 
Irvine (1976 1981). Dr Watson is President of the Royal Society of New Zealand, Chairman 
of Research and Education Advanced Network New Zealand Limited, advisor to the Oxygen 
Group of the Ministry of Research Science and Technology, a Member of the Government’s 
Growth and Innovation Advisory Board, a Director of the BioScience Policy Institute and a 
Trustee of the Malaghan Institute for Medical Research. Dr Watson was a director of ArborGen, 
LLC (2000-2003) and a director of the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology 
(1999 2002). He now holds the role of Energy Evangelist at Pure Power Global Limited. 
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To the Shareholders of genesis Research & Development Corporation Limited.

We have audited the financial statements on pages 17 to 49. The financial statements provide information about the past 
financial performance of the company and group and their financial position as at 31 December 2007. This information is stated 
in accordance with the accounting policies set out on pages 21 to 28.

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 205(1) of the Companies Act 
1993. Our audit has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Di R ecToRs’ R e s poN s i B i liTi e s

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and group as at 31 December 
2007 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Au DiToR’s R e s poN s i B i liTi e s

It is our responsibility to express an independent opinion on the financial statements presented by the directors and report our 
opinion to you.

BAs i s of opi N ioN

An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
It also includes assessing:

•	 the	significant	estimates	and	judgements	made	by	the	directors	in	the	preparation	of	the	financial	statements;	and

•	 	whether	the	accounting	policies	are	appropriate	to	the	circumstances	of	the	company	and	group,	consistently	applied	and	
adequately disclosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in New Zealand, except that our work was 
limited as explained below. We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we 
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interest in, the company or any of its subsidiaries.

QuAli f i e D opi N ioN

We have been unable to verify the valuation placed upon the investment in the Pure Power Global Limited, disclosed in note 4, 
either upon initial recognition or at balance date, as the directors have been unable to provide a valuation at either date.  
Any adjustment to this figure would have a consequential effect on the loss after tax for the year and retained earnings at  
31 December 2007.

In this respect alone we have not obtained all the information and explanations that we have required.

In our opinion, except for adjustments that might have been found to be necessary had we been able to obtain sufficient 
evidence concerning the investment valuation, the financial statements on 17 to 49.

•	 comply	with	generally	accepted	accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand;	and

•	 	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	of	the	company	and	group	as	at	31	December	2007	and	their	financial	
performance and cashflows for the year ended on that date.

Our audit was completed on 28 February 2008 and our qualified opinion is expressed as at that date.

Auckland

Auditor’s Report
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G ROU P PAR E NT

NOTE 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P

EARNiNgS PER ShARE NOTE 2007 i CENTS 2006 i CENTS

iNCOmE         

Total Income 6  776   1,083   776   1,083 

EXPENDiTURE         

Research and development   (3,927)  (3,579)  (3,927)  (3,579)

Administration   (1,940)  (2,676)  (1,940)  (2,676)

Total Expenditure 7  (5,867)  (6,255)  (5,867)  (6,255)

Net (loss) from continuing operations  
before income tax   (5,091)  (5,172)  (5,091)  (5,172)

Income tax expense 8  –  – – –

Net (loss) from continuing operations  
after income tax   (5,091)  (5,172)  (5,091)  (5,172)

Net profit /(loss) from discontinued operations  
after income tax 9  4,327   8,449   –   (5,635)

Net Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable  
to equity holders of the parent   (764)  3,277   (5,091)  (10,807)

The income statement above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Basic earnings per share   

From continuing operations   (19.49)  (19.80)

From discontinued operations  16.56  32.34 

Total basic earnings per share 10  (2.92) 12.54 

   

Diluted earnings per share   

From continuing operations   (18.63)  (18.84)

From discontinued operations  15.83  30.78 

Total diluted earnings per share 10  (2.80) 11.94

Income Statement
FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R
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gROUP

For the year ended 31 December 2007

At 1 January 2007  76,506 315 (67,246) 9,575

(Loss) for the period   –   –  (764) (764)

Total income and expense for the period  – – (764) (764)

Equity Transactions:

Share-based payment  – (107) – (107)

At 31 December 2007  76,506 208 (68,010) 8,704

For the year ended 31 December 2006

At 1 January 2006  76,506 258 (70,523) 6,241

Profit for the period  – – 3,277 3,277

Total income and expense for the period  – – 3,277 3,277

Equity Transactions:

Share-based payment  – 57 – 57

At 31 December 2006  76,506 315 (67,246) 9,575

PARENT

For the year ended 31 December 2007

At 1 January 2007  76,506 315 (67,398) 9,423

(Loss) for the period  – – (5,091) (5,091)

Total income and expense for the period  – – (5,091) (5,091)

Equity Transactions:

Share-based payment  – (107) – (107)

At 31 December 2007  76,506 208 (72,489) 4,225

For the year ended 31 December 2006

At 1 January 2006  76,506 258 (56,591) 20,173

(Loss) for the period  – – (10,807) (10,807)

Total income and expense for the period  – – (10,807) (10,807)

Equity Transactions:

Share-based payment  – 57 – 57

At 31 December 2006  76,506 315 (67,398) 9,423

The statement of changes in equity above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

OR DI NARY 
SHAR ES  

$000

ESOP 
R ESE RVE 

$000

R ETAI N E D 
EAR N I NGS 

$000
TOTAL 
$000

Statement of  
Changes in Equity
FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R
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ASSETS          

Current Assets         

Cash and cash equivalents 11  5,778   8,993   5,778   8,993 

Receivables and prepayments 12  2,526   446   386   333 

Total Current Assets   8,304   9,439   6,164   9,326 

         

Non Current Assets         

Investment 13  744   –    –   – 

Property, plant and equipment 15  455   957   453   858 

Total Non–current Assets   1,199   957   453   858 

TOTAL ASSETS   9,503   10,396   6,617   10,184 

         

Current Liabilities         

Trade and other payables 16  (560)  (580)  (513)  (534)

Provisions 17  (239)  (241)  (239)  (227)

Intercompany payable   –   –   (1,640)  – 

Total Current Liabilities   (799)  (821)  (2,392)  (761)

NET ASSETS   8,704   9,575   4,225   9,423 

         

Equity         

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent         

Issued capital 18  76,506   76,506   76,506   76,506 

ESOP Reserve 21  208   315   208   315 

Retained deficit   (68,010)  (67,246)  (72,489)  (67,398)

TOTAL EQUiTy   8,704   9,575   4,225   9,423

The balance sheet above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

G ROU P PAR E NT

NOTE 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

Balance Sheet
AS AT 31 DECE M B E R
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Receipts from research collaborations and grants   621   1,623   175   560 

Receipt from sale of technology  –  8,719  – –

Receipt from sale of Investment   1,956  – – –

Interest received   550   460   550   460 

Payments to suppliers and employees   (6,332)  (6,829)  (3,930)  (6,059)

Net cash inflow from/(used in) operating activities 19  (3,205)  3,973   (3,205)  (5,039)

     

Cash Flows from investing Activities    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   82  45   82   42 

Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment   (67)  (48)  (67)  (47)

Net cash inflow from/(used in) investing activities   15  (3) 15  (5)

     

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Receipt from sale of investment/Intercompany funding  – –  –   9,014 

Net cash inflow from/(used in) financing activities  – – –   9,014 

     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (3,190)  3,970   (3,190)  3,970 

Net foreign exchange differences   (25)  (31)  (25)  (31)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   8,993   5,054   8,993   5,054 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 11  5,778   8,993   5,778   8,993

The cash flow statement above should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

For and on behalf of the Board who authorised the issue of these financial statements on 28 February 2008

J H von Roy    J N McLean 
Director     Director

G ROU P PAR E NT

NOTE 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

Cash Flow Statement
FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R
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1.  coR poRATe i N foR mATioN

Genesis Research and Development Corporation Limited (“Genesis”) is a company incorporated in New Zealand, registered 
under the Companies Act 1993 and listed on the New Zealand and Australian Stock Exchanges. 

Genesis Research and Development Corporation Limited is an issuer for the purpose of the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The Company and its subsidiaries comprise the Genesis Research and Development Corporation Limited Group (Group). 
AgriGenesis Biosciences Limited (AgriGenesis) has been the only trading subsidiary but ceased active operations in 
December 2007. 

2.  s u m mARy of s ig N i ficANT Accou NTi Ng polici e s

(A) BAs i s of pR e pARATioN

The financial statements of the Group, the Company and its Subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP) and the requirements of the Companies Act 1993 and the 
Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investments which have been recorded 
at fair value.

For the purposes of complying with NZ GAAP, Genesis is profit oriented.

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000).

(B) sTATe m e NT of com pliANce

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP. They comply with New Zealand equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate 
for profit-oriented entities. The financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

This is the first set of financial statements prepared based on NZ IFRS so comparatives for the year ended 31 December 2006 
have been restated accordingly. Reconciliations of equity at 31 December 2006 and net profit or loss for the year ended  
31 December 2006 under NZ IFRS to the balances reported in the 31 December 2006 financial statements are 
detailed in Note 25.

(c) N ew Accou NTi Ng sTAN DAR Ds AN D i NTe R pR eTATioN s

Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted 
by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 31 December 2007. These are outlined in the table on the following page.

Notes to and forming part  
of the Financial Statements
FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R 2007
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Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 
standard

impact on group financial 
statements

Application 
date for group

NZ IFRIC 11 NZ IFRS 2 – Group 
and Treasury Share 
Transactions

Addresses whether certain types of 
share-based payment transactions with 
employees (or other suppliers of goods 
and services) should be accounted 
for as equity-settled or as cash-settled 
transactions under NZ IFRS 2. It also 
specifies the accounting in a subsidiary’s 
financial statements for share-based 
payment arrangements involving equity 
instruments of the parent.

1 March 2007 This is consistent with the Group's 
existing accounting policies for 
share-based payments, so the 
amendments are not expected to 
have any impact on the Group's 
financial statements.

1 January 2008

NZ IFRS 8 Operating Segments New standard replacing NZ IAS 14 
Segment Reporting, which adopts a 
management approach to segment 
reporting.

1 January 2009 NZ IFRS 8 is a disclosure standard 
so will have no direct impact on the 
amounts included in the Group's 
financial statements. However 
the amendments may have an 
impact on the Group’s segment 
disclosures as segment information 
included in internal management 
reports is more detailed than is 
currently reported under NZ IAS 14 
Segment Reporting.

1 January 2009

NZ IAS 1 
(revised)

Presentation of 
Financial Statements

Introduces a statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Other revisions include impacts on the 
presentation of items in the statement 
of changes in equity, new presentation 
requirements for restatements or 
reclassifications of items in the financial 
statements, changes in the presentation 
requirements for dividends and changes to 
the titles of the financial statements.

1 January 2009 The amendments are expected to 
only affect the presentation of the 
Group’s financial statements and 
will not have a direct impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts under the current  
NZ IAS 1. The Group has not 
determined at this stage whether 
to present the new statement of 
comprehensive income as a single  
or two statements.

1 January 2009

Amendments to 
NZ IFRS 2

Amendments to NZ 
IFRS 2 Share-based 
Payments – Vesting 
Conditions and 
Cancellations

Clarifies that vesting conditions are service 
conditions and performance conditions 
only. Other features of a share-based 
payment are not vesting conditions. It also 
specifies that all cancellations, whether 
by the entity or by other parties, should 
receive the same accounting treatment.

1 January 2009 This is consistent with the Group's 
existing accounting policies for 
share-based payments, so the 
amendments are not expected to 
have any impact on the Group's 
financial statements.

1 January 2009

Amendments to 
NZ IAS 32 and 
NZ IAS 1

Revised Amendments 
to NZ Equivalent 
to International 
Accounting Standard 
32 Financial 
Instruments: 
Presentation and 
NZ Equivalent 
to International 
Accounting Standard 
1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements-
Puttable Financial 
Instruments and 
Obligations Arising 
on Liquidation

Deals with the accounting for particular 
types of financial instruments that have 
characteristics similar to ordinary shares 
but are currently classified as financial 
liabilities. The amendments require these 
types of financial instruments to be 
classified as equity, provided they have 
particular features and meet specific 
conditions.

1 January 2009 The Group does not have any of 
these financial instruments and as 
such these amendments are not 
expected to have any impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

1 January 2009

NZ IAS 27 
(amended)

Consolidated and 
Separate Financial 
Statements

The amendments to NZ IAS 27 change 
the accounting treatment for changes 
in ownership interests which will be 
accounted for as an equity transaction and 
will have no impact on goodwill nor will it 
give rise to a gain or loss.

The amendments also change the 
accounting for loss of control of a 
subsidiary where any retained interest will 
be remeasured to fair value and will impact 
the gain or loss recognised on disposal.

1 July 2009 As the key amendments to 
this standard will be applied 
prospectively, the impact of the 
application will depend on the 
nature of the future transactions and 
therefore cannot be determined at 
this stage. Other amendments to this 
standard are not expected to have 
a significant impact on the Group's 
financial statements.

1 January 2010
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Adoption of new accounting standards

The Group has adopted NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments; Disclosures and all consequential amendments which became 
applicable on 1 January 2007. The adoption of this standard has only affected the disclosure in these financial statements. 
There has been no effect on profit and loss or the financial position of the entity.

(D) m eAs u R e m e NT BAs i s

The financial statements for the Group, the Company and its Subsidiaries have been prepared on a going concern basis.  
The Directors believe this basis remains appropriate having given due consideration to the underlying performance of the 
business, the net cash position and the Group’s financial position.

The financial reports, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

(e) BAs i s of coN soli DATioN 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Genesis Research and Development Corporation 
Limited and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year (the Group). 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to 
obtain benefits from their activities.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit 
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase method of accounting 
involves allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

Investments in subsidiaries held by Genesis Research & Development Corporation Limited are accounted for at cost in the 
separate financial statements of the parent entity.

(f) B us i N e ss com B i NATioN

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the combination. Where equity instruments are issued in a business 
combination, the fair value of the instruments is their published market price as at the date of exchange. Transaction costs arising 
on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.

Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as available for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs to 
sell), all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the amounts 
payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under 
comparable terms and conditions.

(g) s eg m e NT R e poRTi Ng

A business segment is a distinguishable component of the entity that is engaged in providing products or services that are 
subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other operating business segments. Management has assessed the 
reportable business segments under NZ IAS 14 Segment Reporting and has determined that on adoption of IFRS 8 Segment 
Reporting (applicable from 1 January 2009), no additional operating segments are likely to be reported.

Genesis only operates in one geographical segment. 
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(h) foR e ig N cu R R e Ncy TRAN s lATioN

Both the functional and presentation currency of the group is New Zealand dollars ($). 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the balance sheet date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 
as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

( i)  cAs h AN D cAs h eQu ivAle NTs

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and at bank and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

(J)  TRADe AN D oTh e R R ece ivAB le s

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment. 

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Individual debts that are known to be uncollectible are written 
off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered 
objective evidence of impairment. The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

(k) Di scoNTi N u e D ope RATioN s 

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of, has ceased active operations, or is classified 
as available for sale and that represents a separate major line of business. The results of discontinued operations are presented 
separately on the face of the income statement.

(l) i Nve sTm e NTs AN D oTh e R f i NANciAl Ass eTs

Investments and financial assets in the scope of NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, 
or available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Designation is re-evaluated at each financial year end, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other categories.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair value through 
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. These are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which are classified as non current.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities that are designated as 
available-for-sale. After initial recognition available-for sale securities are measured at fair value with gains or losses being 
recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to 
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined by reference to quoted 
market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments with no active market, fair values are 
determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to 
the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing 
models making as much use of available and supportable market data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs to a minimum.

(m) pRope RTy, plANT & eQu i pm e NT

The company has three classes of property, plant & equipment:

– Scientific equipment

– Leasehold improvements

– Office furniture, equipment and computers

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such 
cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. 
Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as 
a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows: 

– Scientific Equipment    3 to 8 years

– Leasehold Improvements     8.5 years

– Office Furniture, Equipment and Computers   2 to 8 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial 
year end. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal.

(N) i m pAi R m e NT of NoN-fi NANciAl Ass eTs oTh e R ThAN gooDwi ll

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Genesis Group conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of information to assess for any 
indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, technology and economic conditions, 
are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount is calculated.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that have suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.

(o) leAs e s 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires 
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received and subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments 
between rental expense and reduction of the liability.
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(p) R e s eARch AN D Deve lopm e NT cosTs

intangibles

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal project 
is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will 
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over 
the period of expected benefit from the related project.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development expenditure is tested for impairment annually when the asset 
is not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting period.

(Q) TRADe AN D oTh e R pAyAB le s

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Due to their short term nature they are not discounted. They represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the 
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(R) pRovi s ioN s 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date using a discounted cash flow methodology. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is 
taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

(s) s hAR e-BAs e D pAym e NT TRAN sAcTioN s 

Equity settled transactions:

The Group provides benefits to its employees (including key management personnel) in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). 

There is currently one plan in place to provide these benefits, with two separate pools of options which expire in 2009 and 2011.

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees (for awards granted after 7 November 2002 that were unvested  
at 1 January 2005) is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  
The fair value is determined by using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 21.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of 
the shares of Genesis if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date on which the relevant employees 
become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).
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At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative charge to the income statement is calculated by reference to:

(i)  the grant date fair value of the award;

(ii)  the current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such factors as the likelihood of 
employee turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non-market performance conditions being met; and

(iii) the expired portion of the vesting period.

The charge to the income statement for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts already 
charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding entry to equity.

Equity-settled awards granted by Genesis to employees of subsidiaries are recognised in the parent’s separate financial 
statements as an additional investment in the subsidiary with a corresponding credit to equity. As a result, the expense 
recognised by Genesis Group in relation to equity-settled awards only represents the expense associated with grants to 
employees of the parent. The expense recognised by the Group is the total expense associated with all such awards. 

Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded are contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer awards vest than were 
originally anticipated to do so. Any award subject to a market condition is considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that 
market condition is fulfilled, provided that all other conditions are satisfied.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment 
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share.

(T) coNTR i B uTe D eQu iTy

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(u) R eve N u e R ecog N iTioN

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

–  Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

–  Research collaborations and grants shown in the Income Statement is the amount received for research performed in the 
ordinary course of business during the periods. When the grant relates to an expense item it is recognised in income over the 
periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

(v) i Ncom e TAx AN D oTh e R TAxe s 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:
–  when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss; or

–  when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, 
and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
–  when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

–  when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint 
ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

Other taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
–  when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 

GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
– receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as part of operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

(w) gove R N m e NT g RANTs

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet as a liability when the grant is received.

When the grant relates to an expense item, is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a 
systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. They are not credited directly to shareholders’ equity.

(x) eAR N i Ng s pe R s hAR e

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing 
equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:
– costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);
–  the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as 

expenses; and
–  other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential 

ordinary shares; 
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any 
bonus element.

Notes to and forming part  
of the Financial Statements (CONTI N U E D)

FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R 2007
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3.  f i NANciAl R i s k mANAg e m e NT oBJ ecTive s AN D polici e s

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits, receivables, payables, advances and unlisted 
equity securities. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and 
agrees policies for managing its main financial risks as summarised below.

i NTe R e sT RATe R i s k

The group has no interest bearing loans.

Interest rates for investments in short term deposits during the year varied between 7.00% and 8.75% (2006, 7.31% and 
7.58%). All deposits were held for 90 days or less.

At balance date, the group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to New Zealand variable interest 
rate risk that are not designated in cash flow hedges:

fi NANciAl Ass eTs

Cash at bank and in hand  147 387 147 387

Short-term deposits  5,631 8,606 5,631 8,606

The group’s policy is to invest excess funds on short term deposit of 30 days to 90 days duration.

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance sheet date.

At 31 December 2007, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post 
tax profit would have been affected as follows:

+1% (100 basis points)  56 86 56 86

–0.5% (50 basis points)  (28) (43) (28) (43)

The possible movements in profit are due to higher/lower interest income from variable term deposit rates.

The sensitivity is lower in 2007 than in 2006 because of a reduction in term deposits.

cu R R e Ncy R i s k 

The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions denominated in foreign currencies, arising from 
normal trading activities.

The Group has minimum exposure to cash held in foreign currency.

Significant foreign currency transactions that are not matched by existing foreign currency assets or liabilities are hedged by a 
forward exchange contract. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until a firm commitment is in place and to 
negotiate the terms of the hedge derivatives to exactly match the terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge effectiveness.

At 31 December, the Group had the following exposure to US$ foreign currency that is not designated in cash flow hedges.
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G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT G ROU P & PAR E NT
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G ROU P
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Notes to and forming part  
of the Financial Statements (CONTI N U E D)

FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R 2007

foR e ig N cu R R e Ncy moN eTARy Ass eTs AN D liAB i liTi e s

Monetary Assets  1 222 1 –  –   – 

Monetary Liabilities – 12 – 11  –  1

In 2006, the Group had US$222,000 on term deposit. The balance was reduced to US$1,000 in December 2007 due to the 
payments of USD creditors over the year.

The following sensitivity is based on the foreign currency risk exposures in existence at the balance sheet date.

At 31 December 2007, had the New Zealand dollar moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, 
post tax profit would have been impacted as follows:

NZD/USD +10%  – (27) – 2

NZD/USD –5%  – 16 – (1)

The possible movements in profit in 2006 are more sensitive than in 2007 due to the higher level of US Dollar deposits at the 
2006 balance date.

cR e DiT R i s k 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the company to credit risk, principally consist of bank balances and 
accounts receivable.

Receivables & prepayments  2,526 446 386 333

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amount of these instruments.

The group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.

coNce NTRATioN s of cR e DiT R i s k 

99% (2006, 19%) of cash and cash equivalents is held with Westpac Banking Corporation Limited and Nil (2006, 79%) 
of cash and cash equivalents is held with Bank of New Zealand Limited.

The only party where the Group has a significant credit risk exposure is Pure Power Global Limited (PPG). The risk arises 
from the sale of BioJoule Limited where certain cash payments are due to be paid by PPG in 2008:
– $150,000 is due in April 2008
– $1,956,522 is due in August 2008 (non-discounted).
– $376,000 was received in January 2008.

liQu i DiTy R i s k 

The group’s objective is to maintain sufficient funding to pay its creditors through capital raising, collaboration, government 
grants and royalties. 

The group monitors year end forecasts of liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash flow. 

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s and parent entity’s financial liabilities are within twelve months.
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4.  s ig N i f icANT Accou NTi Ng J u Dg e m e NTs, e sTi mATe s AN D Ass u m pTioN s

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to 
assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical 
experience and on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis 
of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 
are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may materially affect 
financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

(A) s ig N i f icANT Accou NTi Ng e sTi mATe s

Classification of and valuation of investments

The Group has decided to classify the investment in unlisted securities as available for sale. As part of the consideration for the 
sale of AgriGenesis’ holding in BioJoule Ltd, the Group received 951,304 shares in Pure Power Global Limited (PPG). PPG is 
an early stage development company without established revenues. In the absence of detailed financial information or an active 
market for PPG securities, it is not possible to obtain a formal valuation for the investment in PPG. The shares have been valued 
at US$0.60 per share (which is equivalent to NZ$0.78 per share) or a total of NZ$744,175. This was determined using the most 
recent arm’s length share transactions concluded by PPG. 

(B) s ig N i f icANT Accou NTi Ng J u Dg e m e NTs

Taxation

The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements considered to 
be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unrecouped tax 
losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be 
recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits. 

5.  s eg m e NT i N foR mATioN

The Group’s primary segment reporting format is business segments as the Group’s risks and returns are affected predominantly 
by differences in the products and services produced.

The Group operates solely in the biotechnology industry but considers that the Health operations and Plant operations constitute 
separate business segments. 

The Health programmes focus on developing products for human health, predominantly in the fields of immunology and cancer, 
together with animal health and physiology. 

The Plant programmes carried out by AgriGenesis Biosciences Limited focused on the development of technology to improve 
energy crops; specifically targeting biomass development and yield. In 2006, BioJoule Limited was established to assemble  
bio-refining technologies for the production of transport ethanol, natural lignin and xylose. BioJoule Limited was sold in 2007.

AgriGenesis Biosciences Limited is no longer undertaking active research but continues to hold residual royalty and profit 
sharing rights.

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 
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The following tables present segment information for the parent and group:

year ended 31 December 2007

income     

Research collaborations and grants   72   336  –  408 

Other Income   704   186  –  890 

Sale of Investment  –   4,575  –  4,575 

Total Segment Income   776   5,097  –  5,873 

Segment Result     

Net Profit/(Loss) before tax   (5,091)  4,327  –  (764)

Income tax expense     

Net Profit/(Loss) for the year   (5,091)  4,327  –  (764)

      

Assets and Liabilities      

Segment assets   6,617   4,526  (1,640)  9,503 

Segment liabilities   (2,392) (47)  1,640  (799)

      

Other segment information   

Capital expenditure  67 – – 67

   

Depreciation   404   15  –  419 

      

Cash flow information      

Net cash flow from operating activities   (3,205) –  –  (3,205)

Net cash flow from investing activities  15 –  –  15

Net cash flow from financing activities  –  –   –  –

Notes to and forming part  
of the Financial Statements (CONTI N U E D)

FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R 2007
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year ended 31 December 2006

income      

Research collaborations and grants  552   1,025  –  1,577 

Other Income  531  –  –  531 

Sale of technology   –   8,719  –  8,719 

Total Segment Income   1,083   9,744   – 10,827 

Segment Result     

Net Profit/(Loss) before tax   (5,172) 8,449 –  3,277 

Income tax expense     

Net Profit/(Loss) for the year   (5,172) 8,449 –  3,277 

Assets and Liabilities      

Segment assets   10,184   212  –  10,396 

Segment Liabilities   (761)  (60) –  (821)

      

Other segment information   

Capital expenditure  58 – – 58

   

Depreciation   595   195  –  790 

      

Cash flow information      

Net cash flow from operating activities   (5,039)  9,012  – 3,973 

Net cash flow from investing activities   (5)  2  – (3)

Net cash flow from financing activities   9,014   (9,014) – –

There are no geographical segments for Genesis as it only operates in New Zealand.
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6.  i Ncom e

(a) government grants        

Research collaborations and grants   72   552   72   552 

        

(b) Other income        

Management Fees   206   –   206   – 

Interest received   498   531   498   531 

        

Total Income   776   1,083   776   1,083

7.  expe N DiTu R e

Employee benefits    2,615  2614   2,615  2614 

Science consumables   829  433   829   433

Facilities and services   467  497   467  497 

Operating lease   590   754   590   754 

Directors' Fees   204   183   204   183 

Directors' costs   24   47   24   47 

Depreciation expense includes:     

Depreciation – Scientific Equipment   173   291   173   291 

Depreciation – Leasehold Improvements   193   265   193   265 

Depreciation – Office Furniture, Equipment and Computers   38   39   38   39

Total depreciation   404   595   404   595 

Corporate and other overheads   734   1,132   734   1132 

Total Expenditure   5,867   6,255   5,867   6,255

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000
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8.  TAxATioN

(A) income Tax Expense

Net Profit/(Loss) before taxation   (764)  3,277   (5,091)  (10,807)

Prima facie taxation at 33%   (252)  1,081   (1,680)  (3,566)

Plus taxation effect of permanent differences   3   2   3   824 

Plus/(less) taxation effect of temporary differences  
not recognised   (157)  (94)  (84)  (89)

(Decrease)/increase in losses to carry forward (tax effect)   406   (989)  1,761   2,831 

Taxation Expense  – – – –

Tax losses available to be carried forward and offset against future periods amount to $46,845,604 (2006: $45,767,000).

Unrecognised timing differences amount to $405,766 (2006: $285,597). Availability of tax losses is subject to the requirements 
of the Income Tax legislation being met.

(B)  Reconciliation of tax expense recognised in the income statement and tax expense calculated per the  
statutory tax rate

Accounting (loss) before tax from continuing operations  (5,091) (5,172) (5,091) (5,172)

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax from  
discontinued operations  4,327 8,449 – (5,635)

Total accounting profit/(loss) before income tax  (764) 3,277 (5,091) (10,807)

At the Parent Entity’s statutory income tax rate of 33%  
(2006: 33%)  (252) 1,081 (1,680) (3,566)

Add taxation effect of permanent differences

Entertainment and other non deductible expenses  3 2 3 2

Write down of investment in subsidiary  – – – 822

Aggregate income tax expense  (249) 1,083 (1,677) (2,742)

Aggregate income tax expense is attributable to:

Continuing operations  (1,677) (2,743) (1,677) (2,742)

Discontinued operations  1,428 3,826 – –

  (249) 1,083 (1,677) (2,742)

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The Group will only recognise a deferred tax asset for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

The group does not have imputation credits available to the shareholders of the parent company at balance date.
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Notes to and forming part  
of the Financial Statements (CONTI N U E D)

FOR TH E YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R 2007

9.  Di scoNTi N u e D ope RATioN s

(A) DeTAi ls of ope RATioN s Di s pos e D 

In October 2007, the Board of Directors entered into an agreement to sell the Group’s interest in BioJoule Limited. The sale 
became unconditional on 20 December 2007. AgriGenesis Biosciences Limited owned 65% of BioJoule Limited. AgriGenesis 
Biosciences Limited and BioJoule Limited are classified as “discontinued operations” in the Income Statement.

Following the sale of BioJoule Limited, AgriGenesis is no longer undertaking active research in plant biotechnology. This move 
is consistent with the Genesis strategy to focus on development of therapeutic products.

(B) f i NANciAl pe R foR mANce of ope RATioN s Di s pos e D

Income  4,814   283   5,097   9,744   –   9,744 

Expenses  (487)  (283)  (770) (1,130)  (165) (1,295)

Net Profit/(Loss)  
before taxation from  
discontinued operations  4,327   –   4,327   8,614   (165)  8,449

Taxation  –   –   –   –   –   – 

Net Profit/(Loss)  
after taxation from  
discontinued operations  4,327   –   4,327   8,614  (165) 8,449

income from Discontinued Operations

government grant   

Research collaborations and grants     336   1,025 

Other income   

Management Fees     186   – 

Gain recognised on the disposal of discontinued operations     4,575 – 

Sale of technology     – 8,719 

Total Income     5,097   9,744
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Expenses for Discontinued Operations

Employee benefits expense     587   441 

Science consumables     135   48 

Depreciation expense includes:  

Depreciation – Scientific Equipment     14   121 

Depreciation – Leasehold Improvements     –   68 

Depreciation – Office Furniture, Equipment and Computers     1   6 

Total depreciation     15   195 

Corporate and other overheads     198   446 

Write down of investment in subsidiary     (165)  165 

Total Expenditure     770   1,295

(c) Ass eTs AN D liAB i liTi e s

Total Assets    4,526 212

Total Liabilities    (47) (60)

Net Assets    4,479 152

The net assets relate to the entire discontinued operation. The net assets to be disposed of in (D) relate solely to the investment 
in BioJoule.

(D) pRofiT fRom sAle of i Nve sTm e NT

Cash received in December 2007    1,956

Shares in PPG    744

Net present value of balance to be received in August 2008    1,853

Total sale value    4,553

Net assets to be disposed    (22)

Total profit on sale of investment    4,575
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(e) cAs h flow fRom Di scoNTi N u e D ope RATioN s

Net cash flow from operating activities    –  9,012 

Net cash flow from investing activities    –  2 

Net cash flow from financing activities    –  (9,014) 

10.  eAR N i Ng s pe R s hAR e

(A) eAR N i Ng s us e D i N cAlcu lATi Ng eAR N i Ng s pe R s hAR e

Net Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations attributable  
to ordinary equity holders of the parent    (5,091) (5,172)

Net Profit/(Loss) from discontinued operations    4,327 8,449

Net Profit/(Loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent   (764) 3,277

(B) we ig hTe D Ave RAg e N u m B e R of s hAR e s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share   26,127 26,127

Effects of dilution:  

Share options    1,206 1,327

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution   27,333 27,454

There are no instruments (e.g. share options) excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share that could potentially 
dilute basic earnings per share in the future.

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would significantly change the 
number of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date of completion of 
these financial statements.

(c) i N foR mATioN oN Th e clAss i ficATioN of s ecu R iTi e s 

Options granted to employees (including key management personnel) as described in note 20 are considered to be potential 
ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent they are dilutive. These 
options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.

11.  cAs h AN D cAs h eQu ivAle NTs

Cash at bank and in hand  147 387 147 387

Short-term deposits  5,631 8,606 5,631 8,606

  5,778 8,993 5,778 8,993
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2007 
000

2006 
000
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12.  R ece ivAB le s AN D pR e pAym e NTs

Trade debtors    9   110   –   80 

Sundry receivables   2,464   169   333   86 

Prepayments   53   167   53   167 

Total receivables & prepayments   2,526   446   386   333

Sundry receivables include $2,379,000 which is receivable from Pure Power Global Limited, of which $376,000 was received in 
January 2008, $150,000 is receivable in April 2008 and the balance of $1,853,000 which represents the deferred consideration 
on the sale of BioJoule Limited to Pure Power Global Limited is receivable in August 2008. 

13.  i Nve sTm e NT

Shares – unlisted (available for sale)  744  –   –   –

This holding of 951,304 shares in Pure Power Global Limited is valued at US$0.60 per share. 

The investment has been designated as available for sale but the directors have not yet made a decision to sell the investment.

14.  R e lATe D pARTy Di sclos u R e

(A) s u Bs i DiAR i e s

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Genesis Research and Development Corporation 
Limited (Genesis) and the trading subsidiaries listed in the following table.

AgriGenesis Biosciences Limited  100 100 31 December

BioGenesis Limited **  100* 100* 31 December

BioStore NZ Limited  100* 100* 31 December

Genesis Employee Fund Limited  100* 100* 31 December

BioJoule Limited (sold in December 2007)  – 70 31 December

* Non-trading   

** Formerly BioJoule Technology Limited    

(B) key mANAg e m e NT pe RsoN N e l

Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid, are included in note 20.

G ROU P PAR E NT
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(c) R e lATe D pARTy TRAN sAcTioN s

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Parent: Subsidiaries

Intercompany payable to AgriGenesis    1,640 –

AgriGenesis does not have a bank account so Genesis paid  
for all the expenses and received all income on behalf of AgriGenesis.  

Write-off of receivable from AgriGenesis    – 3,143

Write-down of investment in AgriGenesis    – 2,492

Intercompany receivable from BioJoule Limited    – 165

Genesis funded the expenses of BioJoule Limited, as BioJoule did not have a bank account.  

(D) Te R m s AN D coN DiTioN s of TRAN sAcTioN s wiTh R e lATe D pARTi e s

Outstanding intercompany balances at year-end are unsecured and interest free. It is the intention of the directors of Genesis 
to provide financial assistance to AgriGenesis, if necessary, to ensure that AgriGenesis meets its debts as they fall due. 
AgriGenesis is included in discontinued operations in the Group’s financial statements.

15.  pRope RTy, plANT AN D eQu i pm e NT

At 1 January, net of  
accumulated depreciation  327   583   38   734   1,061   42   948   1,837 

Additions  21   3   43   17     41   67   58 

Disposals  (24)  (55)  (3)  –   (144)  –   (82)  (144)

Depreciation recovered  
for disposals  (59)  –   –   (4)  –   –   (59)  (4)

Depreciation charged  
for the year  (187)  (193)  (39)  (412)  (333)  (45)  (419)  (790)

At 31December, net of  
accumulated depreciation  78   338   39   335   584   38   455   957 

Cost or fair value  7,811   4,384   3,215   8,751   4,722   3,380   15,410   16,853 

Accumulated Depreciation  (7,733)  (4,046)  (3,176)  (8,416)  (4,138)  (3,342)  (14,955)  (15,896)

Net carrying amount  78   338   39   335   584   38   455   957

G ROU P – 2007 i  $000  

( I NCLU DES DISCONTI N U E D OPE RATIONS) 

G ROU P – 2006 i  $000  

( I NCLU DES DISCONTI N U E D OPE RATIONS) G ROU P
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15.  pRope RTy, plANT AN D eQu i pm e NT (coNTi N u e D)

At 1 January, net of  
accumulated depreciation  287   528   34   574   936   32   849   1,542 

Additions  21   3   43   17     41   67   58 

Disposals – – – –   (143) –  –   (143)

Depreciation recovered  
for disposals  (59) – –  (4) – –  (59)  (4)

Depreciation charged for the year  (173)  (193)  (38)  (291)  (265)  (39)  (404)  (595)

At 31December, net of  
accumulated depreciation  76   338   39   296   528   34   453   858 

Cost or fair value  4,557   4,384   3,195   4,646   4,381   3,321   12,136   12,348 

Accumulated Depreciation  (4,481)  (4,046)  (3,156)  (4,350)  (3,853)  (3,287)  (11,683)  (11,490)

Net carrying amount  76   338   39   296   528   34   453   858

16.  TRADe AN D oTh e R pAyAB le s

Trade payables  97 135 98 129

Accruals  373 388 352 362

Non trade payables  90 57 63 43

  560 580 513 534

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

17.  pRovi s ioN s

Annual leave  186 205 186 190

Directors' fees  53 36 53 37

  239 241 239 227

PAR E NT – 2007 i  $000  

(CONTI N U I NG OPE RATIONS) 

PAR E NT – 2006 i  $000 

(CONTI N U I NG OPE RATIONS) PAR E NT

YEAR E N DE D 31 DECE M B E R
SCIENTIFIC 
EqUIPMENT

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVE- 

MENTS
FURNITURE & 
EqUIPMENT

SCIENTIFIC 
EqUIPMENT

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVE- 

MENTS
FURNITURE & 
EqUIPMENT

TOTAL 
2007

TOTAL 
2006

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000
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18.  coNTR i B uTe D eQu iTy

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid  76,506 76,506 76,506 76,506

The shares have no par value. All ordinary shares have equal voting rights and share equally in dividends and 
surplus on liquidation.

There were no options converted to ordinary shares during the year (2006, nil).

movement in ordinary shares on issue

At 1 January 2006, 1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007  26,127 76,506

cApiTAl mANAg e m e NT

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital 
structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.

The possibility of raising further capital has been discussed with shareholders and will continue to be reviewed.  
The group does not plan to borrow any funds.

G ROU P

THOUSAN DS  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000
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19.  R ecoNci liATioN of pRofiT / (loss) De ficiT AfTe R TAxATioN wiTh  
cAs h flow fRom ope RATi Ng AcTiviTi e s

Reported net Profit / (Loss) after taxation   (764)  3,277   (5,091)  (10,807)

Add back non-cash items:       

Depreciation   419   790   404   595 

Fixed asset equipment usage charge   –   –   (111)  (204)

Intercompany expense transfer   –   –  –   (58)

Write-down of investment in subsidiary   –   –  –   2,492 

Write-off of intercompany receivable   –   –  –   3,144 

Investment   (744) – – –

Sale of assets on deferred terms  (57) – – –

Loss / (gain) on sale of fixed asset    18 104   (10)   103 

Foreign currency translation loss   25   31   25   31 

  (339)   925   308   6,103 

movement in working capital:       

Increase / (Decrease) in accounts payable   (38)  28   (31)  23 

(Increase) / Decrease in receivables and prepayments   (2,080)  (190)  (53)   (159)

Increase / (Decrease) in accruals   (15)  (88)  (10)  1 

Increase / (Decrease) in employee entitlements   (2)  38   12   (28)

Increase / (Decrease) in non trade payables   33  (17)  20   8 

Intercompany funding   –  –   1,640  (180)

   (2,102)  (229)  1,578  (335)

Net cash inflow from (used in) operating activities   (3,205)  3,973   (3,205)  (5,039)

20.  key mANAg e m e NT pe RsoN N e l

Compensation for key management Personnel

Short-term employee benefits   1,061   1,497   1,061   1,497 

Share-based payment   24   –   24   – 

Total compensation   1,085   1,497   1,085   1,497

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000
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21.  s hAR e BAs e D pAym e NTs 

The expense recognised for employee share options during the year is shown in the table below:

Opening ESOP Reserve  315 258 315 258

Recognised as expenses / (income) in income statement  (107) 57 (107) 57

Closing ESOP Reserve  208 315 208 315

Types of share-based payment plans

Genesis Employee Fund Limited is the trustee that holds the share options in Genesis Research & Development Corporation Ltd. 
When the company decides to grant share options to an eligible employee the trustee then allocates some of the unallocated 
share options in the fund to that employee (subject to the options limit). 

Share options are granted to all staff when they commence employment. When options are granted to employees, the exercise 
price is set at the weighted average closing sale price of Genesis shares on the NZSX for the three months immediately preceding 
the date of granting. The company does not require payment for the options. Payment of the exercise price is required if options 
are exercised by the employee and shares are issued.

The options are vested in three tranches: 40% vests after 2 years of service, another 20% vests after 3 years of continual service 
and the remaining 40% vests after 4 years of employment. When a participant resigns from employment, the vested share options 
can be exercised within three months after resignation. Any unvested or unexercised options are taken back by the trustee and 
held as options available for issue to new employees.

Summary of options granted under ESOP arrangements

The following table illustrates the number, weighted average exercise price (WAEP), and movements in share options 
outstanding during the year:

Outstanding at beginning of the year  1,327,098  1.62  1,551,853 1.91

Granted during the year  62,000  0.30  39,000 0.28

Forfeited during the year  (182,615)  4.48  (263,755) 2.58

Exercised during the year  – – – –

Expired during the year  – – – –

Closing balance  1,206,483  1.52  1,327,098 1.62

G ROU P 
 

2007

G ROU P 
WAE P 
2007 $

G ROU P 
 

2006

G ROU P 
WAE P 

2006 $

G ROU P PAR E NT
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The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2007 is represented by:

Allocated 2009 pool $1.00 – 6.74  $3.13 544,483 538,483 572,298

Allocated 2011 pool $0.27 – 0.52 $0.38 662,000 515,000 80,000

Total Allocated    1,206,483 1,053,483 652,298

Unallocated 2009 pool   605,517

Unallocated 2011 pool   838,000

Total Unallocated    1,443,517

Total Options    2,650,000

As at 31 December 2007, 1,206,483 options (2006, 1,327,098) were outstanding of which 1,053,483 (2006, 652,298) 
have vested in the name of the individual employees. The remaining outstanding options have an expiry period of between 
two and four years.

All options have no voting rights. Staff options cannot be transferred and entitlement is dependent on continued employment. 
Of the 1,150,000 options issued in 2000 to Genesis Employee Fund Limited, (trustee of the Genesis Employee Share Option 
Plan), 605,517 remain for future granting to entitled employees. A further 1,500,000 options, as approved at the annual 
meeting in March 2002, were issued to the trustee, of which 838,000 remain for future granting to entitled employees.

The Board of Directors has the power to appoint or remove trustees of the Employee Share Option Plan.  
As at 28 February 2008, there were 33 option holders (2006, 36).

opTioN pR ici Ng moDe l:

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the ESOP is estimated as at the date of grant using the  
Black-Scholes Model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 
and the calculated option value.

Share Price at Grant Date ($) 1.51 0.29 0.49 0.88 0.32 0.38

Maximum life of Options (years) 3.75 4.34 4.24 3.75 4.82 4.70

Volatility (%) 44% 72% 68% 58% 83% 80%

Risk Free Rate (%) 7.0% 7.1% 7.1% 7.0% 7.2% 7.2%

Vesting Period (years) 1.20 2.37 2.18 1.86 1.97 1.96

Exercise Multiple 3.00 5.50 5.09 4.00 5.50 5.33

Option Value ($) 0.50 0.16 0.22 0.42 0.21 0.23

2007 
ESO

2007 
ESO2 AVE RAG E

2006 
ESO

2006 
ESO2 AVE RAG E

EXE RCISE 
PR ICE

WE IG HTE D 
AVE RAG E 
EXE RCISE 

PR ICE

N U M B E R  
NOT 

EXE RCISE D

N U M B E R 
VESTE D  
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Notes:

Share Price at Grant Date ($) Weighted average closing share price over the last three months prior to grant date.

Maximum life of Options (years) The expected life is the average time the option remains unexercised.

Volatility (%)  The long run volatility forecast. This is estimated from the last twelve months' volatility of 
the closing share price.

Risk Free Rate (%)  The Reserve Bank of NZ wholesale interest rate with a maturity equal to the expected  
life of the option.

Vesting Period (years)  The period in years during which the options cannot be exercised. It is calculated  
from the grant date.

Exercise Multiple  This defines the conditions under which employees are expected to exercise their options. 
It is defined as a multiple of the exercise price when on average employees tend to exercise 
if the stock price reaches that exercise price.

ESO – options pool that expires in 2009
ESO2 – options pool that expires in 2011

22.  Au DiToRs’ R e m u N e RATioN

The auditor for Genesis Group is Ernst & Young. The amount received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for services is:

Audit of financial statements  58 50 58 50

Other Services and disbursements  2 13 2 13

  60 63 60 63

23.  com m iTm e NTs

ope RATi Ng leAs e com m iTm e NTs

The Group has entered into a commercial property lease for its premises.

Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases: 

Not later than one year    600 600

Later than one year and not later than two years    600 600

Later than two year and not later than five years    700 100

Later than five years      –   –

Capital commitments

$Nil (2006 $Nil).

Contingent Liabilities 

$Nil. (2006 $Nil)

G ROU P & PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000
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24.  gove R N m e NT g RANTs

Current Asset    

Accrued grant receivable  – 83  –  – 

Total government grants deferred  – 83  –  –

At 31 December 2006 there was an income accrual of $83,000 in current assets for accrual of a grant due but not received for 
which actual expenses had been paid.

movement in government grants accrual

At 1 January  (83)  (69)   –   – 

Received during the year  401 978  –   – 

Released to the income statement  (318)  (992)  –   – 

At 31 December   –   (83)  –   –

Government grants were received during the year in the form of cash, and have been recorded at their fair value. All the grants 
have been completed in 2007 and all expenses related to the grants have been paid.

25.  ADopTioN of N ew Z eAlAN D eQu ivAle NTs To i NTe R NATioNAl  
f i NANciAl R e poRTi Ng sTAN DAR Ds (NZ i fRs)

As stated in note 2, these are the Groups first annual financial statements prepared in accordance with NZ IFRS. 
The accounting policies set out in note 2 have been applied in preparing the Group’s annual financial statements for the 
period ending 31 December 2007 and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2006.

In preparing its opening NZ IFRS balance sheet and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006, the Group has 
adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with its old basis of accounting (previous 
NZ GAAP). An explanation of how the transition from previous NZ GAAP to NZ IFRS has affected the Group’s balance sheet 
and income statement is set out in the following tables and the narrative that accompany the tables.

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G ROU P PAR E NT

2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000 2007 i  $000 2006 i  $000

G
en

es
is

 R
es

ea
rc

h 
an

d
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
C

o
rp

o
ra

ti
o

n 
Li

m
it

ed
A

N
N

U
A

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 2

0
0

7
 

4
7

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



$000 CAPITAL
ESOP 

RESERVES
RETAINED 
EARNINGS TOTAL EqUITY

TOTAL 
LIABILITIES TOTAL ASSETS

NET PROFIT 
BEFORE TAX

$000 CAPITAL
ESOP 

RESERVES
RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL 
EqUITY

TOTAL 
LIABILITIES

TOTAL 
ASSETS

i m pAcT oN TRAN s iTioN To NZ i fRs

The estimated impact of transition to NZ IFRS from existing NZ GAAP is set out below. 

impact on Equity, Total Liabilities, Total Assets and Net Profit as at 31 December 2006, the date of transition. 

Total reported under NZ GAAP  76,506    (66,788)  9,718   (595)  10,313   3,336 

NZ IFRS adjustments:       

1. Share-based payments    315  (315)  –    (58)

2. Government grants     83  83    83   14 

3. Employee benefits     (226)  (226)  (226)  (15)

Total NZ IFRS adjustments    315   (458)  (143)  (226)  83   (59)

Restated totals under NZ IFRS at  
31 December 2006   76,506  315   (67,246)  9,575   (821)  10,396  3,277

impact on the group’s Equity, Total Liabilities, Total Assets and Net Profit on transition to  
NZ iFRS as at 1 January 2006 

Total reported under NZ GAAP    76,506    (70,124)  6,382   (697)  7,079 

NZ IFRS adjustments:      

1. Share-based payments      258 (258)  –   

2. Government grants      69   69    69 

3. Employee benefits     (210)  (210)  (210) 

Total NZ IFRS adjustments      258   (399)  (141)  (210)  69 

Restated totals under NZ IFRS at  
1 January 2006    76,506   258   (70,523)  6,241   (907)  7,148

Notes to and forming part  
of the Financial Statements (CONTI N U E D)
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NoTe s oN i m pAcT of NZ i fRs ADJ usTm e NTs:

(i) government grants

Previous NZ GAAP did not have a standard on Government grants, and they were recognised in the income statement when 
they were received or receivable. Under NZ IFRS Government grants are recognised as income so as to match the costs that 
they are intended to compensate. The NZ IFRS adoption has affected the timing of recognition of the Group’s Government 
grants. On initial application, grants that have not previously been recognised in the income statement are now recognised in 
retained earnings with a corresponding adjustment to accrued income. However, since all the costs for the grants have been 
expensed in 2007, all the accrued income has been reversed in December 2007.

The adjustments are as follows:

(a) As at 1 January 2006
The creation of an asset (accrued income) and an increase in retained earnings of $69,000.

(b) 31 December 2006
An increase in cumulative retained earnings as at 31 December 2006 by $83,000, an increase in asset (accrued income) as 
at 31 December 2006 by $83,000 and an increase in income for the twelve months ended 31 December 2006 by $14,000.

(ii) Employee Benefits

Under previous NZ GAAP the Group did not recognise a liability for post-employment benefits. Under NZ IFRS post-employment 
benefits are accrued as they are earned by employees and measured on discounted basis where they fall due after twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

The adjustments are as follows:

(c) As at 1 January 2006
A decrease in cumulative retained earnings by $210,000 and an increase in liability (employee entitlements) by $210,000.

(d) As at 31 December 2006
An increase in cumulative retained earnings by $226,000, an increase in liability (employee entitlements) by $226,000,  
and an increase in expenses for the twelve months ended 31 December 2006 by $16,000. 

(iii) Share-based Payments

The Group has applied NZ IFRS 2 to its active share-based payment arrangements at 1 January 2006 except for equity-settled 
share-based payment arrangements granted before 7 November 2002 and those granted after that date but which vested before 
the transition date. 

Under previous NZ GAAP no compensation expense had been recognised for the issued options. Under NZ IFRS the Group 
has recognised a cost for all share-based payment arrangements. Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements are 
accounted for at fair value measured on the grant date of the instruments issued. 

The adjustments are as follows:

(e) As at 1 January 2006
An increase in share capital by $258,000 and a decrease in retained earnings of $258,000

(f) As at 31 December 2006
An increase in cumulative share capital by $315,000, a decrease in cumulative retained earnings by $315,000 and an increase 
in ESOP expense for the twelve months ended 31 December 2006 of $57,000.
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QuoTe D eQu iTy s ecu R iTy holDe R i N foR mATioN

Di sTR i B uTioN of oR Di NARy s hAR e holDe Rs As AT 28 fe B R uARy 2008 

1–999   434  187,582  0.72

1,000–4,999   1,027  1,889,706  7.23

5,000–9,999   203  1,256,996  4.81

10,000–99,999   326  7,945,071  30.41

100,000 and over   31  14,847,447  56.83

Total   2,021 26,126,802 100.00

As at 28 February 2008, there wee 1,012 holders with less than a marketable parcel of securities.

Dom ici le of oR Di NARy s hAR e holDe Rs As AT 28 fe B R uARy 2008

New Zealand   1,827 22,033,480 84.33

Australia   139 3,699,894 14.18

USA   20 268,660 1.03

Germany   1 27,500 0.10

United Kingdom   13 21,374 0.08

France   1 1,000 0.00

Hong Kong   2 2,125 0.01

Ireland   1 9,000 0.03

Netherlands   1 10,000 0.04

Japan   3 37,550 0.14

Malaysia   1 3,000 0.01

Singapore   1 3,200 0.01

Canada   3 2,200 0.01

Brunei    1 1,500 0.01

East Timor   1 1,500 0.01

China   1 1,000 0.00

Taiwan   1 2,000 0.01

Czech Republic   1 500 0.00

Poland   1 500 0.00

Turkey   1 500 0.00

Indonesia   1 319 0.00

Total   2,021 26,126,802 100.00

SIZ E OF SHAR E HOLDI NG NO. OF HOLDE R S TOTAL SHAR ES H E LD %

SIZ E OF SHAR E HOLDI NG NO. OF HOLDE R S TOTAL SHAR ES H E LD %
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Top Twe NTy oR Di NARy s hAR e holDe Rs As AT 28 fe B R uARy 2008

Accident Compensation Corporation – NZCSD   4,370,000  16.73

Leveraged Equities Finance Limited    1,248,250  4.78

Piat Corp Pty Ltd    1,091,567  4.18

J D Watson + M H Watson + G J Stevens    1,014,176  3.88

Sierra Asset Limited    890,000  3.41

Chesilton Pty Ltd    500,000  1.91

J N McLean    480,000  1.84

Pillage Investments Pty Limited    450,000  1.72

FNZ Custodians Limited    440,479  1.69

Rotorua Trust Perpetual Capital Fund Limited    400,000  1.53

ANZ Nominees Limited – A/C NZCSD    367,000  1.40

J D Honeywell    300,000  1.15

Ohau Properties Limited    300,000  1.15

Rubicon IP Limited    258,254  0.99

ENGN Ltd    250,000  0.96

J von Roy + J von Roy    250,000  0.96

A R Millward + A J Nicholson    240,224  0.92

N M Birchall + J Smith    200,000  0.77

B C McGirr    196,069  0.75

H C Zingel + L L Zingel    177,107  0.68

    13,423,126   51.40

Di sclos u R e of s u BsTANTiAl s ecu R iTy holDi Ng s

The following Substantial Security Holders have, as at 28 February 2008, disclosed holdings of relevant interests in the voting 
securities of the Company:

Accident Compensation Corporation    4,370,000

J H von Roy    – 1,571,557*

J N McLean    480,000 1,443,517*

N S Bagnall    4,427,435 

* Options held as Directors of Genesis Employee Fund Limited, trustee of the Employee Share Option Plan.

The total number of issued voting securities of the Company at 28 February 2008 was 26,126,802.

NAM E TOTAL SHAR ES H E LD %

SU B STANTIAL SECU R ITY SHAR E HOLDE R S N U M B E R OF SHAR ES N U M B E R OF OPTIONS
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pR i Nci pAl AcTiviTi e s

The company’s principal activity in the year was commercialising scientific research.

Di R ecToRs holDi Ng office Du R i Ng Th e yeAR

Andrew Jonathan Hubert Gearing

Steven Gillis

James Neil McLean

Joachim Herbert von Roy

Stewart James Washer

eQu iTy s ecu R iTi e s h e lD By Di R ecToRs AN D AssociATe D pe RsoN s of  
eAch Di R ecToR As AT 31 Dece m B e R:

DI R ECTOR YEAR B E N E FICIAL NON B E N E FICIAL ASSOCIATE D PARTI ES

S Gillis 2007 25,000 2009 $6.60 Options – –

100,000 Shares – –

2006 25,000 2009 $6.60 Options – –

100,000 Shares – –

J N McLean 2007 480,000 Shares 1,443,517 Options* 53,000 Shares

2006 480,000 Shares 1,328,902 Options* 53,000 Shares

J H von Roy 2007 250,000 Shares 1,443,517 Options* –

2006 250,000 Shares 1,328,902 Options* –

S J Washer 2007 – – –

2006 – – –

A J H Gearing 2007 – – –

2006 – – –

*  1,443,517 options (2006, 1,328,902) held as Directors of Genesis Employee Fund Limited, trustee of the Employee 
Share Option Plan.

e NTR i e s i N Th e i NTe R e sTs R eg i sTe R

A J H Gearing is the CEO of, and a shareholder in, Biocommsquare Pty Ltd, an international life sciences business development 
company based in Melbourne, Australia that provides business development services to Genesis, and a director of CNSBio Pty 
Limited.

S Gillis is a partner in ARCH Venture Partners, Chairman of VLST Corporation Inc., VentiRx Pharmaceuticals Inc., Spaltudaq 
Corporation and PhaseRx, a director of Migenix Inc., Trubion Pharmaceuticals Inc., Allozyne, Variation Biotechnologies Inc., 
Limerick NeuroSciences Inc., Magen BioSciences, Accelerator Corporation and Surface Logix Inc. and a shareholder of  
Amgen Corporation.

J N McLean is Chairman of The Horticultural & Food Research Institute of New Zealand and New Zealand Biotech 2003 Inc, 
deputy chair of the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology and R J Hill Laboratories Limited, a member of the 
governing board of the Allan Wilson Centre for Molecular Ecology and Evolution, and an adviser to BioDiscovery Ltd. 

S J Washer is a venture partner of Inventages Venture Capital Investments, Chairman of Hatchtech Pty Ltd, a director of White 
Biotechnology Pty Limited and Healthlinx Ltd, a member of the Senate at Murdoch University and is on the Australian Federal 
Government Advisory Panel for Industrial Biotechnology.

Statutory Information (CONTI N U E D)

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



J H von Roy is Chairman of Phytomedics Inc, Phylogica Limited, White Biotechnology Pty Limited, a director of Biomatters Ltd, 
Corra Life Sciences Inc, Encoate Holdings Limited, Wool Equities Limited, Orico Limited and Roberts & von Roy Associates 
Limited, a partner of Inventages Venture Capital Investments, a member of BioPacificVentures Investment Committee, an advisor 
to the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology, advisor to Cure Kids Ltd, shareholder in a number of the companies 
noted above and in Proacta Inc, CoDa Limited, Source Precision Medicine Inc, PhotoNZ Corporation Limited and Cytran Ltd.

R e m u N e RATioN of Di R ecToRs

S Gillis    35 30

J N McLean    35 30

J H von Roy    70 60

S J Washer    35 30

A J H Gearing    35 30

Di R ecToRs’ i N s u RANce 

The company has arranged policies of Directors’ Liability Insurance that, together with a Deed of Indemnity provide that generally 
Directors will incur no monetary loss as a result of actions undertaken by them as Directors. The insurance does not cover 
liabilities arising from criminal activities or deliberate or reckless acts or omissions.

us e of com pANy i N foR mATioN

During the year the Board received no notices from Directors of the company requesting to use company information received 
in their capacity as Directors, which would not otherwise have been available to them. 

s u Bs i DiARy com pANy

J N McLean is a Director of BioStore NZ Limited. 

J N McLean and J H von Roy are Directors of Genesis Employee Fund Limited. 

S Gillis and J N McLean are Directors of BioGenesis Limited.

S G Hall, J D Watson and D L Wright were Directors of BioJoule Limited until it was sold.

S Gillis, J N McLean, J H von Roy and S J Washer are Directors of AgriGenesis Biosciences Limited. 

com pANy s ecR eTARy

Although under New Zealand law a company secretary is not required, Stephen Hall assumes these responsibilities.
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R e m u N e RATioN of g Rou p e m ploye e s

$100,001 – 110,000     4

$110,001 – 120,000     1

$120,001 – 130,000     2

$130,000 – 140,000     1

$160,001 – 170,000     1

$180,001 – 190,000     1

$220,001 – 230,000     1

$370,001 – 380,000     1

wAive Rs AN D exe Rci s e of sTock exchANg e powe Rs

N ew Z eAlAN D sTock exchANg e (NZx) wAive Rs

As an NZSX & ASX dual listed Issuer, the company has been granted a waiver from compliance with rules 11.1.1 and  
11.1.4 to allow for restricted securities during an escrow period under ASX Rules.

NZXR granted Genesis a waiver from the requirement in Rule 9.2.1 to obtain shareholder approval for the transfer of 
employment of Dr J Watson (who was defined by NZX Rules as a Related Party of Genesis) to BioJoule Limited.

AusTRAliAN sTock exchANg e (Asx) wAive Rs

The company has been granted a waiver from a number of ASX Rules to allow for conflicts with New Zealand legislation and 
NZX Rules. 

This waiver allows the company to provide certain information and issue securities in accordance with New Zealand legislation 
and NZX Rules.

AusTRAliAN sTock exchANg e Di sclos u R e s

The company is incorporated in New Zealand under the Companies Act 1993.

The company is not subject to Chapters 6, 6A, 6B and 6C of the Corporations Act – Australia, dealing with the acquisition 
of shares (such as substantial holdings and takeovers). Limitations on the acquisition of shares are imposed by the following 
New Zealand legislation: Companies Act 1993, Securities Act 1978, Securities Amendment Act 1988, Takeovers Act 1993, 
Overseas Investment Act 1973, Commerce Act and various regulations promulgated under such Acts.

N U M B E R OF E M PLOYE ES
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coR poRATioN s AcT – AusTRAliA DeclARATioN

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Genesis Research and Development Corporation 
Limited (“Genesis”) dated 28 February 2008.

(a)  the financial statements of Genesis and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the notes 
to those financial statements comply with the accounting standards issued by the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants; and 

(b)  the Group financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the  
Group; and

(c)  in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Genesis will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

J H von Roy  
Director

28 February 2008
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Di R ecToRs of Th e com pANy 

J  H VON ROY, (CHAI R MAN)

One Fox Street
Parnell
Auckland
New Zealand

J N MCLEAN, B Sc (HONS),  ACA 

One Fox Street
Parnell
Auckland
New Zealand

A J H G EAR I NG, PhD 

27-31 Wright Street
Clayton
Melbourne
VIC 3168
Australia

S G I LLIS,  PhD

1000 2nd Avenue, Suite 3700
Seattle
WA 98104
USA

S J WASH E R, PhD

105 Hay Street
Subiaco
WA 6008
Australia

ch i e f execuTive

S G Hall MCom(Hons) CA CTP

R eg i sTe R e D office

One Fox Street 
Parnell, Auckland, New Zealand 
Telephone: +64 9 373 5600
Facsimile: +64 9 373 5685  
Email: enquiries@genesis.co.nz

Au DiToR

Ernst & Young 
41 Shortland Street
Auckland
New Zealand

AR B N

092 515 369

we Bs iTe

www.genesis.co.nz

i Nve sToR e NQu i R i e s & chANg e  
of ADDR e ss NoTi f icATioN

SHAR E R EG ISTRAR N EW Z EALAN D

Computershare Investor Services Limited
Level 2, 159 Hurstmere Road
Takapuna, Auckland
Private Bag 92119, Auckland 1020
Telephone: +64 9 488 8777
Facsimile: +64 9 488 8787

SHAR E R EG ISTRAR AUSTRALIA

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 3, 60 Carrington Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
GPO Box 7045, Sydney, NSW 1115
Freephone: 1 800 269 981
Telephone: +61 2 8234 5222
Facsimile: +61 2 8234 5050

s hAR e mAR keT Ticke R sym Bols 

New Zealand NZSX: GEN
Australia ASX: GEN

soliciToRs

N EW Z EALAN D 

Lowndes Jordan
Level 22, The ANZ Centre
23-29 Albert Street, Auckland
P O Box 5966, Auckland

AUSTRALIA

Allens Arthur Robinson
The Chifley Tower
2 Chifley Square, Sydney, NSW 2000
GPO Box 50, Sydney, NSW 2001
Australia

U N ITE D STATES OF AM E R ICA

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice PLLC
222 Delaware Avenue, 15th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801
USA

pATe NT ATToR N eys

N EW Z EALAN D 

Baldwins
Level 14, Baldwins Centre
342 Lambton quay, Wellington

U N ITE D STATES OF AM E R ICA

Speckman Law Group
1201 Third Avenue, Suite 330
Seattle WA 98101
USA
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